#### S209125

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CAROLYN GREGORY, Plaintiff and Appellant

v.

LORRAINE COTT et al., Defendants and Respondents

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES
COUNTY THE HONORABLE GERALD ROSENBERG, JUDGE PRESIDING

(Los Angeles County No. SC109507) Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five – No. B237645

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Alexander J. Petale (SBN 196632) Attorney at Law Post Office Box 3993 Hollywood, California 90078 (323)240-3894

Attorney for Appellant Carolyn Gregory

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 2 1 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### S209125

#### I. Introduction

As stated by the Supreme Court, in its Order granting review, the sole issue for determination in this appeal is whether the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, bars the complaint for damages, of an in-home caregiver, Ms. Gregory, against an Alzheimer's patient and her husband, for injuries the caregiver received when the Respondent Mrs. Cott, lunged at her.

Whether to apply the doctrine of Primary Assumption of the Risk, depends on the nature of the activity in which the Defendants are involved and the relationship of the parties to that activity, (see *Neighbarger v. Irwin Industries, Inc.* 8 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 532, 32 Cal. Rptr. 2d. *Lilley v. Elk Grove Unified School Dist.* 68 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 939, 80 Cal. Rptr. 2d 638 (3d Dist. 1998) and *Rostai v. Neste Enterprises* 138 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 326, 41 Cal. Rptr. 3d 411 (4<sup>th</sup> Dist. 2006).

Once the nature of the activity and the relationship of the parties to that activity has been established, the Court must then determine whether public policy compels the result, that under the facts of the case, the defendants have no duty to the plaintiff and the doctrine of Primary Assumption of the Risk is applied, to completely bar the Plaintiff's causes of action and recovery of damages, (see *Parsons v. Crown Disposal* (1997) 15 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 456).

When a Court, examines "the nature of the activity in which the Defendants are involved and the relationship of the parties to that activity," (see *Nieghbarger* Supra at p. ) it can be guided in its analysis, by acknowledging the distinctions between the "sports activity" type of cases, (see *Knight v. Jewett* (1992) 3 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 296) from the "occupational activity" type of cases, (see *Neighbarger v. Irwin Industries, Inc.* (supra)), to determine if the doctrine of primary assumption of the

risk should be applied to the facts of that particular case.

In this case, the Judge in the Trial Court and the Majority of the Court of Appeal, erred when they failed to make a proper determination as to two distinct considerations:

**First**, whether the Defendants, had a duty to the Plaintiff, while the Plaintiff was working inside the Defendant's single family home and;

**Second**, whether Ms. Gregory was actually engaged in an occupation, which is subject to the assumption of "occupational risk" defense, as a health care provider, or whether Ms. Gregory was merely an un-certified and un-licensed caregiver, who had light housekeeping duties, who was injured while she had her back turned to Mrs. Cott the Defendant, and who was injured while washing a knife in the kitchen sink.

Clearly if the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory was a certified or a licensed health care provider, working in an institutional setting, in professional convalescent facility, the doctrine of "occupational assumption of the risk," would apply, (see *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (1996) 45 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1761, i.e., The Firefighter's Rule).

However, under the facts of this case, it is the Plaintiff's contention that the Defendants Mr. and Mrs. Cott, had a duty to the Plaintiff to provide a reasonably safe working environment, inside the single family home of the Defendants.

Furthermore, Ms. Gregory was not a certified or licensed health care professional, and the Defendant Mrs. Cott was not a "patient" of Ms. Gregory's.

Therefore the doctrine of "occupational assumption of the risk," cannot and should not have been applied to the facts of this case, (see *Nieghbarger* (supra) wherein

Supreme Court refused to apply the "Firefighters Rule," to plaintiffs who were not firefighters). Rather it would have been proper to apply "Secondary Assumption of the Risk," to the facts of this case, i.e. comparative negligence.

But that is not the end of the inquiry. The Plaintiff, Ms. Gregory, also sued the Defendant, Mrs. Cott, for battery; an intentional tort. An examination of the record of this matter at the trial court level, reveals that the Trial Court failed entirely to consider the Plaintiff's argument, at the hearing on the Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment, that the Plaintiff's cause of action for battery, presented a triable issue of material fact, to be determined by a jury as to whether the Defendant Mrs. Cott's behavior was intentional, when she got up from her seat at the kitchen table, walked approximately 8 feet across the kitchen floor, pushed into the Plaintiff and reached into the sink, to grapple with the Plaintiff, for the knife, which cut the Plaintiff's left wrist.

The elements of a battery are: 1) a touching of the Plaintiff by the Defendant, 2) with the intent to harm or offend 3) without the Plaintiff's consent; and 3) damages, (see CACI, 1300 et seq.).

Whether a touching is made with the intent to harm or offend, is clearly an issue of fact to be determined by a jury.

As seen by the transcript of the hearing of the Defendants Motions for Summary Judgment, (served and filed simultaneously herewith), the Trial Court ignored the Plaintiff's argument on the issue and the Court of Appeal, engaged in only the most cursory discussion of the issue, and relied on the decisions in the matters of *Knight v. Jewett* (1992) 3 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 296, *Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist.* (2006) 38 Cal App. 4<sup>th</sup> 148, 166 and *Hamilton v. Marintelli & Associates* 

(2003) 110 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1012, to support the argument that the defense of primary assumption of the risk is equally fatal to a negligence cause of action as it is to an intentional tort; however that is not the case in all factual circumstances involving the "occupational assumption of risk," type of cases.

There are both statutory and case precedential exceptions to the "Fireman's Rule," (see Civil Code § 1714.9 and *Donohue v. San Francisco Housing Authority* (1993) 16 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1658).

The Court of Appeal's and the Respondents' reliance on the matter of *Knight* v. *Jewett* (supra) to support its contention that Plaintiff's cause of action for battery, an intentional tort; is barred by the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, in this case, is illogical. *Knight* involved a game of football. Football is a contact sport; hitting other players is an intrinsic part of the game of football. Can anyone possibly suggest that the Plaintiff in this case, agreed to engage in a "contact sport" with the Defendant Mrs. Cott, (an 84 year old woman at the time of the incident) when Mrs. Cott battered the Plaintiff.

The same is true of the Appellate Court's reliance on the matter of *Avilla v*. *Citrus Community College Dist* (2006) 38 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 148, to support its position that Plaintiff's cause of action for battery is barred by the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk. In *Avilla*, which involved injuries incurred by the plaintiff, while playing a game of baseball, the pitchers hit the plaintiff and one of the other teams' players with baseballs while pitching at the batters. Being hit by a baseball while playing the game is a risk inherent in that game. Are there any facts to suggest that the Plaintiff in this case, Ms. Gregory, was aware of and consented to being exposed to Mrs. Cott's

"killer fastball," while engaged in her daily care and feeding of the Defendant Mrs. Cott? Clearly not. Plaintiff's point is this; the "sports type" of primary assumption of the risk cases are of limited application to the facts of this case, (see *Peart v. Ferro* (2004) 119 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 60, 13 Cal. Rptr. 3d 885, for a description of what a "sport type" of activity is, regarding the application of the doctrine of Primary Assumption of the Risk).

Regarding the Court of Appeal's reliance on the matter of *Hamilton v*.

Marintelli & Associates (supra) to support its position the Plaintiff's cause of action for battery is barred by the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, it should be noted that the plaintiff in Hamilton was a statutorily designated peace officer, (see Penal Code § 830 et seq.) and therefore the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk was properly applied to the plaintiff Ms. Hamilton, who was injured while participating in martial arts training; clearly, in *Hamilton* the plaintiff consented to the battery. That is not the case herein!

Clearly the Supreme Court in deciding, whether in this case the Plaintiff's causes of action are barred by the application of the doctrine primary assumption of the risk, should be guided by cases of the "occupational" primary assumption of the risk variety; and then should be mindful; that before a court can apply the doctrine of "occupational" primary assumption of the risk, it must first determine whether the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory was in fact actually engaged in the subject occupation, prior to applying the doctrine.

Herein, the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory, was neither, a certified nurses' aid, nor a licensed nurse. The Plaintiff's training consisted of viewing a film and visiting some Alzheimer's patients in a nursing home. The Plaintiff Ms. Gregory was not a health

care provider and Mrs. Cott was not Ms. Gregory's patient. The Plaintiff's work location was inside a single family home owned by the Defendants Mr. and Mrs. Cott. No other nurses, doctors or certified nurses' aids were present to assist the Plaintiff, (contrary to the facts in *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (1996) 45 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1761), upon which the Defendants, the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal, so heavily relied.

Finally this Court must consider the legislative intent expressed in Civil Code § 41, which provides that: "A person of unsound mind of whatever degree, is civilly liable for a wrong done by the person..." Applying the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, to defeat a cause of action for battery, may be proper in the context of the "sport type" applications of the doctrine, or in the *Herrle* case, where a certified nurse's aid was working with other health care professionals in an institutional setting; however the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk, **should not be over extended** to bar the Plaintiff's causes of action for negligence and battery, in this situation, where an un-licensed, non-certified housekeeper and care giver, was set upon from behind by a mentally infirm homeowner within the confines of that single family home.

#### II. ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the doctrine of primary assumption of the risk bar the complaint for damages brought by an in-home caregiver against an Alzheimer's patient and her husband for injuries the caregiver received when the patient lunged at her?

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE, PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND APPEALABILITY

The Plaintiff filed her complaint, alleging three causes of action for negligence,

premises liability and battery, (CT 32-37). The Plaintiff seeks recovery for serious and disabling injury, i.e., loss of use of the left thumb and two fingers, (CT 147, l. 3-4).

The Plaintiff's injuries occurred while she was employed as a housekeeper and care-giver, for one of the defendants in the single family home, where the defendants; husband and wife lived, (CT 145-147). The Plaintiff was not a licensed or certified health care professional, (CT 146). The Plaintiff was not working in a professional carefacility or convalescent hospital, (CT 146).

The Defendants brought a motion for summary judgment, or in the alternative for summary adjudication of issues (CT 8-26). The Defendants contentions are; that the defense of primary assumption of risk, should be applied to disallow the Plaintiff's causes of action, which are grounded in negligence and that Plaintiff's battery cause of action, must fail, since the Defendant Mrs. Cott, suffering from Alzheimer's disease, could not form the requisite intent to harm the Plaintiff, (CT 8-26).

The Plaintiff in its opposition to the motion for summary judgment contended that the doctrine of primary assumption of risk, should not be applied to the facts of the Plaintiff's case, (CT 149-157). Plaintiff contended that the policy basis for both the fireman's rule and the sports-context assumption of risk were not present in the facts of her case. The Plaintiff also contended there was sufficient evidence of intent, based upon the Defendant's conduct in pushing into the Plaintiff, causing injury, to defeat a defense motion for summary judgment, (CT 149-157).

The Plaintiff further contended that there were triable issues of material fact as to whether Defendant Mr. Cott was negligent, in failing to have his wife, Defendant Mrs. Cott institutionalized and as to whether Defendant Mrs. Cott acted intentionally, when

she pushed into the Plaintiff and reached for the knife in the Plaintiff's hands, injuring the Plaintiff, (CT 149-157).

The trial court granted the defense motion for summary judgment, (RT p. 6, l. 25). A judgment was entered on October 4, 2011, (CT 194). This appeal was timely filed. (RT 197).

On Appeal, the Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment, because the court based its application of the doctrine of primary assumption of risk, on the Plaintiff's prior knowledge of the Defendant Mrs. Cott's mental condition and dangerous disposition, (RT pp. 3, l. 9 - p 6, l 27). The court should have looked to whether the Defendants' had a duty to the Plaintiff, as a matter of public policy, (RT p. 4, l. 5 - 15).

Plaintiff timely filed her appeal, which resulted in a majority opinion affirming the trial court's summary judgment. Plaintiff timely petitioned the Supreme Court for review, which petition was granted on April 10. 2013. This appeal is authorized by Code of Civil Procedure §§ 901 and 904.1(1) and California Rules of Court, Rule 8.100 and Rule 8.516 et seq.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Plaintiff in this case, Ms. Carolyn Gregory, was working as an unlicensed care giver, (CT 146) to the one of the Defendants herein, Mrs. Lorraine Cott, who suffers from Alzheimer's disease, (CT 12, l. 21). The Plaintiff Ms. Gregory cared for Mrs. Cott, within the confines of a single family home located in West Los Angeles, (CT p. 12 l. 19). The Plaintiff's duties, along with caring for Mrs. Cott included, sweeping the floor, hand washing dishes and doing the laundry, (CT p. 161 l. 11-18).

The Plaintiff Ms. Gregory's training; in the care of persons suffering from

Alzheimer's disease, consisted of watching a video tape and visiting Alzheimer's patients in a care facility, (CT p. 146). Ms. Gregory is unlicensed, and does not have any credentials as a nurse or certified nurse's aid, (CT p. 146).

The Plaintiff Ms. Gregory had worked in the Respondents single family home caring for the Defendant Mrs. Cott, and doing light housekeeping, for approximately two years prior to the occurrence of the incident giving rise to this appeal, (CT p. 146). Ms. Gregory knew that Mrs. Cott had violent tendencies and had bumped, bruised or scratched Ms. Gregory in the past, (CT p. 146).

It is undisputed that on September 4, 2008, the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory was in the Defendants' single family home, in the kitchen washing dishes in the sink, (CT p. 146). At the same time the Defendant, Mrs. Cott (who was suffering from Alzheimer's disease) was seated in a chair at the kitchen table. Mrs. Cott approached the Plaintiff from behind, (CT p. 146-147), while the water was running. The Plaintiff Ms. Gregory could not hear the Defendant, Mrs. Cott approaching, due to the noise of the water running in the sink and she could not see Mrs. Cott approaching her (CT p. 146-147). Suddenly and without warning the Defendant Mrs. Cott pushed into the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory, and at the same time Mrs. Cott tried to reach into the sink with her hand and grabbed at the sharp knife, which Ms. Gregory was washing, (CT p. 147).

Because the Defendant Mrs. Cott, pushed into the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory and grabbed at the knife, the knife stabbed into Ms. Gregory's left wrist, severing vital nerves and tendons, which proximately and actually caused the Plaintiff to lose the use of her left thumb and two of her left fingers, (CT p. 147).

#### V. LEGAL ARGUMENTS

1. THE MAJORITY'S RELIANCE ON THE CASE OF Herrle v.

Estate of Marshall (1996) 45 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1761 IS ERRONEOUS,

AS THE FACTS IN THE SUBJECT CASE ARE

DISTINGUISHABLE FROM HERRLE

The court erred in applying the doctrine of Primary Assumption of Risk, to the facts in this case, as it was applied to the facts, in the case of *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (supra), since *Herrle* is factually distinguishable. The facts in this case are different in several significant aspects, from what occurred in *Herrle*, as follows:

In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle was a trained and certified nurse's aid, whereas the Appellant Ms. Gregory had no certification and received only informal training, consisting of watching a video and visiting a nursing home, (C.T. p. 146).

In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle, worked in a convalescent hospital with other trained professionals and certified nurses' aids. The convalescent hospital had many Alzheimer's patients, in separate rooms. In this case the Appellant was alone with the Respondent Mrs. Cott, in the small kitchen of a single family home, (C.T. p. 146) and Ms. Gregory did not have any supervision or assistance from any other nurses, certified nurse's aids or other health care professionals.

In *Herrle*, the appellant Francine Herrle worked within the controlled environment of a convalescent hospital whereas in the subject case the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory spent most of her time in the small kitchen of the single family home of the Respondents' with the Defendant Mrs. Cott. In addition to caring for Mrs. Cott, Ms. Gregory's duties included washing dishes, doing laundry or sweeping the kitchen floor, (C.T. pp. 146 and 161). In fact, it was during the execution of her duties as a

housekeeper, while washing dishes, that the Defendant Mrs. Cott, "creeped up" behind Ms. Gregory, shoved into her and reached into the sink to grab at the knife, which then slashed into and cut open the Appellant's left wrist. (C.T. p. 147, l. 1-4).

In *Herrle* the appellant Francine Herrle saw that Mrs. Marshall, (the Alzheimer's patient who struck Ms. Herrle in the face) was being moved from a chair to a bed and Ms. Herrle thought that Mrs. Marshall might fall in the process. Ms. Herrle then went into Mrs. Marshall's room to help another nurse's aid move Mrs. Marshall from the chair to the bed. In the process, Mrs. Marshall struck Ms. Herrle several times in the face severely injuring her. Therefore, Ms. Herrle was injured while working in a professional care facility, while specifically engaged in the activity of caring for an Alzheimer's patient; whereas in this, the instant case, the Ms. Gregory was washing dishes acting as a house keeper, with her back to the Respondent Mrs. Cott, when Mrs. Cott attacked the Ms. Gregory from behind, (see *Donohue v. San Francisco Housing Authority* (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 658 and the common law "independent cause" exception to the Firefighter's Rule). This is a significantly different set of facts, from the facts in the *Herrle*.

In the subject case, the Appellant Carolyn Gregory and the Respondent Mrs. Cott, were in the same room, i.e., the small kitchen area in the single family home, at the time the incident happened. As is clear from the facts in the case of *Herrle*, Francine Herrle, had to go into the separate room of the Alzheimer's patient Mrs. Marshall, to assist another registered nurse's aid, to perform her duties, in the moving of Mrs. Marshall from a chair to the bed. In the subject case, Ms. Carolyn Gregory did not have the protection afforded by the professional nursing home environment, but had to share

the small kitchen with the Defendant Mrs. Cott, (a person of unsound mind see Civil Code § 41).

Specifically because both Ms. Gregory and Mrs. Cott were in the same room, at the time when Ms. Gregory was washing dishes, Mrs. Cott was able to walk up behind the Plaintiff Carolyn Gregory and cause the accident which resulted in the Appellant's serious injuries.

It is clear that the risk of this type of incident happening in a professional convalescent facility, is reduced significantly, by the segregation of the patients into separate rooms and by the presence of other health care professionals in the convalescent facility environment. In this case the Appellant Ms. Carolyn Gregory did not have any of the protections, provided to employees in professional convalescent care facilities, and did not have the assistance of other health care professionals with her to protect her from the type of "sneak attack," which caused the serious and debilitating injuries the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory suffered. Therefore, the facts presented by this case are distinguished from the facts in *Herrle v. Estate of Marshall* (1996) 45 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> 1761.

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