I.

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

prongs of the test.

The risk of injury due to violent behavior is endemic to
caring for someone with Alzheimer’s disease.  Alzheimer’s
progressively destroys a person’s ability to think and reason,
rendering the Alzheimer’s patient depressed, anxious, and
combative. As such, the Court of Appeal and courts in several other
states have recognized that caregivers for Alzheimer’s patients
inherently face a risk of injury from the effects of the disease. In
her deposition testimony, plaintiff and appellant Carolyn Gregory
agreed: dealing with violence is part of the job when one is a

caregiver for an Alzheimer’s patient.

The nature of the relationship between Gregory and

defendants and respondents Lorraine and Bernard Cott also requires
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application of primary assumption of the risk. This Court has been
clear that the second factor is met when the defendants are the
parties who contracted for the plaintiff’s services. There is no
dispute here that the Cotts contracted for Gregory’s services when
they contracted with CarenetLA, Gregory’s employer, to provide an
in-home caregiver for Lorraine. Given the fact that Lorraine is the
person for whom care was needed and given the Cotts’ relationship
with Gregory, it would be unfair to place liability on the Cotts for

that reason.

On the other hand, it would not be unfair to apply
primary assumption of risk to Gregory and other caregivers for
Alzheimer’s patients because they are in the best position to protect
themselves from the inherent risks of the job. Thus, as a matter of
policy, the burden should fall on the caregiver, rather than the
Alzheimer’s patiént, or the family that hired the -caregiver
specifically to deal with these challenges. Ruling otherwise would
contravene  established  legislative  policy to  minimize

institutionalization of the elderly.

This case is not about expanding the firefighter’s rule or
any other doctrine, as Gregory claims. (See AOB 15.) As this
Court has recognized, “[t]he firefighter’s rule should not be viewed
as a separate concept, but as an example of the proper application of
the doctrine of assumption of risk[.]” (Neighbarger v. Irwin
Industries, Inc. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 532, 538 (Neighbarger).)

Similarly, this case involves a straightforward analysis of basic

S



primary assumption of risk principles. And, while cases in other
contexts are useful by analogy and to set forth the basic parameters
of the primary assumption of risk doctrine, they do not represent the
boundaries of factual contexts within which assumption of risk is
applicable.  Under the principles laid out by this Court in
Neighbarger, as applied to the facts of the employment involved in
this case, the ineluctable conclusion is that primary assumption of
risk applies, and Gregory cannot recover from the Cotts for injuries
sustained as a result of the violent outbursts and lack of motor

control Gregory was hired to confront.

In that regard, Gregory does not quibble with
application of primary assumption of risk to those who accept the
occupational risk of caring for Alzheimer’s patients. She concedes
that “[c]learly if the Plaintiff Ms. Gregory was a certified or a
licensed health care provider, working in an institutional setting, in
[a] professional convalescent facility, the doctrine of ‘occupational
assumption of the risk,” would apply.” (AOB 2.) But Gregory
claims that standard does not apply to her because she is relatively
untrained and was working in the Cotts’ home. She does not cite
any authority or provide any reason why a license or an institutional
environment is a requirement for finding primary assumption of
risk. They are not. Nor does Gregory explain or even address how
her reasoning could possibly be consistent with this Court’s
application in Priebe v. Nelson (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1112 (Priebe) of
primary assumption of risk in the context of an unlicensed worker in

a non-clinical setting.



Given the clear legislative policy support for in-home
care and against unnecessary institutionalization of the elderly, no
duty of care can exist here. Placing crushing liability on those who
contract for in-home care for their loved ones would create great
incentive to institutionalize them instead, in derogation of the
Legislature’s expressly stated policy against unnecessary
institutionalization of the elderly. Moreover, the policies underlying
the imposition of a duty of care on individuals with mental illness do
not apply in the context of an Alzheimer’s patient injuring her
caregiver. Nor does this Court’s precedent support finding such a
duty. For those reasons, the Court should hold that the primary
assumption of risk doctrine precludes finding that the Cotts owed a

duty of care to Gregory.

The Court should affirm the judgment of the Court of
Appeal.

II.
STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Cotts Contract With A Home Care Agency That
Sends Carolyn Gregory To Be Lorraine Cott’s In-Home
Caregiver

In 2004, Bernard Cott contracted with a home care

agency, CarenetlLA (the “Agency”), “to provide in-home care at a



single family home for his 85-year-old wife, Lorraine, who had
suffered from Alzheimer’s disease for at least nine years.”l (Opn.
2; CT 117.) In 2005, the Agency assigned Gregory to provide that
~care. (Opn. 2; CT 27, 117.) According to Gregory, her duties
included “lift[ing] wheelchair bound client [and] transportation,”

2 &

“rotat[ing] hospice client [for] bathing and continence,” “assist[ing]
Alzheimer[’s] [patient] w[ith] transportation [and] bathing,” and

“[g]rocer[ies,] [lJaundry [and] housekeeping.” (CT 173.)2

1 The facts presented are undisputed. (Opn. 2, fn. 2.) Neither party
petitioned for rehearing, and thus, there is no dispute that the
majority opinion’s recitation of the facts is correct. (Cal. Rules of
Court, rule 8.500(c)(2) [“as a policy matter the Supreme Court
normally will accept the Court of Appeal opinion’s statement of the
issues and facts unless the party has called the Court of Appeal’s
attention to any alleged omission or misstatement of an issue or fact
in a petition for rehearing”].)

2 The Agency “provide[s] in home care in the greater Los Angeles
area.” (http://www.carenetla.com/.) The service is available so that
one’s “elderly loved ones can live independently with dignity, safety
and security in the comfort of their own home.”
(http://www .carenetla.com/in-home-care-services-for-eldercare-in-
los-angeles/.)  According to the Agency, its caregivers are
employees of CarenetLA, and “for [patients’] protection, [the
Agency] insure[s] all CarenetLA caregivers with California
Workers” Compensation.” (http://www.carenetla.com/about-us/.)
The Agency states that it has three plans for receiving home care.
(http://www.carenetla.com/in-home-caregivers-in-los-angeles/.) All
plans include companionship, light housekeeping, meal preparation,
and medication reminders, but only the Platinum plan includes oral
hygiene, incontinence care, feeding assistance, and transferring and
positioning. (/bid.)



B. Gregory Is Injured By Lorraine Cott In The Course Of
Performing Her Caregiver Duties

In 2008, years after she was assigned to the Cotts,
Gregory held a knife in her hand as she washed dishes. (Opn. 3.)
“Lorraine made contact with [her] and reached for” the knife.
(Ibid.) “As a result, [Gregory] was cut on the wrist by the knife,
suffering significant injuries.” (Ibid.) Gregory then filled out an
“Incident Report” for the Agency that stated Lorraine did not act
confused or different than usual, and that she “has severe/advanced
[A]lzheimer[’s].” (CT 76.) Gregory never returned to work for the
Cotts, and she was replaced by another Agency caregiver. (CT
162.) Gregory made a workers’ compensation claim, [appellant’s

certificate of interested parties] and filed this suit [CT 32].

C. Gregory Has Prior Training And Experience As A
Caregiver For Alzheimer’s Patients

Injuries from caring for Alzheimer’s patients were not
new to Gregory. Gregory “said that she had training in dealing with
clients suffering from Alzheimer’s disease and had provided services
for Alzheimer’s patients in the past.” (Opn. 2.) In her deposition,
when Gregory was asked whether she was “trained in how to deal

?

with a client suffering from Alzheimer’s,” she responded: “Very
much so0.” (CT 41.) That training included video presentations and
site visits to “senior homes specializing in dementia[.]” (Ibid.) In
her training, Gregory learned that one of the “extra duties” involved

in caring for an Alzheimer’s patient is “[c]onstant supervision for



protection, both the patient, family members, the caregiver.” (CT

42 [emphasis added].)

Gregory acknowledged that she had developed “[f]ull
and complete knowledge of both the physical and the
mental/psychological aspects of” Alzheimer’s and suggested that
such knowledge was necessary to take on the role of caring for an
Alzheimer’s patient. (CT 42.) When asked if violence was “an
aspect of the disease that [she was] referring to,” Gregory

responded: “Yes, sir.” (Ibid.)

Gregory had years of experience caring for Alzheimer’s
patients and had done so with another agency before working with
CarenetLA. (CT 41.) She cared for at least five Alzheimer’s
patients before Lorraine. (CT 43-44.) At least two became violent
with her. (CT 44.) As a result of these prior violent outbursts,
Gregory had to receive chiropractic treatment three times. (CT 44-
45.)

D. Gregory Knows Of And Personally Experiences Lorraine
Cott’s Physical Combativeness Before The Injury

When Gregory first began caring for Lorraine, “she
was aware that Lorraine had Alzheimer’s and knew that Alzheimer’s
patients could become violent.” (Opn. 2.) Lorraine could not hold
a coherent conversation, but she did not have physical limitations.

(CT 48.) Bernard told Gregory from the beginning that Lorraine



had become combative. (CT 50-51.) He told her Lorraine did not
recognize him, and so she would bite, kick, scratch, and flail. (CT
51.) And Gregory saw the “minor injuries” Bernard had sustained.

(CT 52.)

As Gregory recounted, “[a]s time and her disease
progressed, [Lorraine] became more combative physically, verbally.
She required more physical restraint during bathing for her
protection.” (CT 49.) Some years before the injury, Gregory had
to restrain Lorraine every time Lorraine had a bath. (/bid.)
Approximately a year before the injury, Gregory witnessed a violent
incident that resulted in Bernard receiving stitches. (CT 52.) And
by the time of the injury, Gregory herself had sustained “[m]inor
bruis[es], small scrapes, [and] minor scrapes” due to violent conduct
by Lorraine. (CT 54.) Gregory never requested to be placed with a
different patient because she “could handle the job.” (CT 56.)

E. Gregory Sues The Cotts And The Trial Court Enters
Summary Judgment In The Cotts’ Favor

Gregory suffered injuries to her non-dominant hand [CT
68] causing shooting pains and numbness in her thumb and two
fingers that “p[e]rplexed” her doctors [CT 78]. After filing a
workers’ compensation claim, [appellant’s certificate of interested
parties] Gregory sued Bernard and Lorraine [CT 32-37]. She
alleged three causes of action. (CT 35-37.) She alleged general

negligence—that Bernard and Lorraine knew Lorraine had “violent



tendencies” and failed to warn her. (CT 35.) Gregory’s second
cause of action was for premises liability against Bernard and
Lorraine, again based on a failure to warn. (CT 36.) And the third
cause of action alleged battery by Lorraine. (CT 37.) Gregory also

requested punitive damages against Lorraine. (Ibid.)

After discovery, the Cotts moved for summary
judgment. (CT 4-5.) The trial court entered summary judgment,
explaining “[i]t’s unfair to charge the defendant with a duty of care
to prevent injury to the plaintiff arising from the very condition or
hazard the defendant has contracted with the plaintiff to remedy or
confront.” (RT 6.)

F. Gregory Appeals, And After The Court Of Appeal
Affirms, Petitions This Court For Review

Gregory appealed, and in a 2-1 decision, the Second
District affirmed. The Court of Appeal recognized that Gregory
“had been trained to deal with Alzheimer’s patients and was aware
of the physical dangers from such patients. She was an experienced,
contracted caretaker.” (Opn. 9-10.) Thus, the Second District held
Gregory could not recover from the Cotts in light of the facts that
(1) the danger of injury from violence by the patient is inherent in
caring for someone with Alzheimer’s and (2) the defendants hired
Gregory specifically to deal with Lorraine’s condition and conduct
arising out of her Alzheimer’s symptoms. (Opn. 8-10.) The court

further noted that “[c]aretakers generally may look to other sources



of available compensation rather than to the victim of a debilitating
disease or to a spouse who has undertaken to care for the
Alzheimer’s patient at home and must endure the patient’s
misfortune.” (Opn. 10.) After the decision, Gregory eschewed the
opportunity to petition for rehearing and instead sought review in

this Court. The Court granted review.

III.
ARGUMENT

A. Primary Assumption Of Risk Analysis Has Evolved From
An Individualized Question Of Consent To An Evaluation
Of The Nature Of The Activity In Light Of The
Relationship Of The Parties To The Activity

1. Primary Assumption Of Risk Arose From Activities
Carrying Inherent Risks In Myriad Contexts

The only issue here is whether Bernard and Lorraine
Cott owed any duty to Gregory to prevent her injury, in light of the
primary assumption of risk doctrine. As a general rule, all persons
have a duty of care not to injure others. (Knight v. Jewert (1992) 3
Cal.4th 296, 315 (Knight).) And, when one breaches that duty, he
or she will be liable for any injury caused to other persons or

property. (Ibid.)
The general rule of a duty of care is not without

exceptions, however. “Duty is not an immutable fact of nature but

only an expression of the sum total of those considerations of policy
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which lead the law to say that the particular plaintiff is entitled to
protection.” (Parsons v. Crown Disposal Co. (1997) 15 Cal.4th
456, 472 [internal quotation marks and citations omitted].)
Naturally, then, when policy considerations weighing in favor of
encouraging an activity by limiting liability outweigh the policy
considerations that support asserting liability, no duty exists. (Id. at
pp. 473-475 [the social utility of garbage collection outweighed
policy interests supporting liability for injuries sustained when horse

spooked by noise from garbage truck threw the plaintiff].)

One of those duty exceptions is the primary assumption
of risk doctrine. That doctrine dictates that, when an individual
assumes the risk of injury inherent in an activity voluntarily engaged
in, the defendant may have no duty, as a matter of law, to protect
the plaintiff from such injury. (Walters v. Sloan (1977) 20 Cal.3d
199, 204-205, disapproved on other grounds in Neighbarger, supra,
8 Cal.4th 532 (Walters) [primary assumption of risk is an outgrowth
of public policy “adopted by progressive courts and based on

fundamental concepts of justice”].)

Initially, the policy considerations were viewed as
arising from the injured party’s antecedent knowledge and consent.
“ITlhe elements of the defense of assumption of risk [were] a
person’s knowledge and appreciation of the danger involved and his
voluntary acceptance of the risk.” (Prescott v. Ralph’s Grocery Co.
(1954) 42 Cal.2d 158, 162 (Prescott).) Thus, in Prescott, when the

plaintiff sued the defendant grocery store for injuries incurred when

“11 -



she fell on a wet sidewalk outside of the store, fully aware of the
water and voluntarily stepping onto the sidewalk, this Court ruled

% ¢

that the trial court correctly instructed the jury that “‘[o]ne is said to
assume a risk when she freely . . . and voluntarily exposes herself to
[a] danger, or when she knows, or in the exercise of ordinary care

would know, that a danger exists.”” (Id. at p. 161.)

Later, the Court’s adoption of comparative negligence
changed the method by which assumption of risk was evaluated. In
Li v. Yellow Cab Co. (1975) 13 Cal.3d 804, 808 (Li), the Court
declared that the doctrine of contributory negligence was no longer
valid in California. The Court posited that its adoption of
comparative fault would affect application of the assumption of risk
doctrine. (Id. at pp. 824-825.) Assumption of risk overlapped
“contributory negligence to some extent and in fact [was] made up
of at least two distinct defenses.” (Id. at p. 824.) The first defense
was that the plaintiff unreasonably took on a known risk, and the
second was that the plaintiff “is held to agree to relieve defendant of

an obligation of reasonable conduct toward him.” (Ibid.)

When contributory negligence was abandoned, the
Court explained that “the adoption of a system of comparative
negligence should entail the merger of the defense of assumption of
risk into the general scheme of assessment of liability in proportion
to fault in those particular cases in which the form of assumption of
risk involved is no more than a variant of contributory negligence.”

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